Silesian University in Opava Mathematical Institute in Opava

Petr Harasim

On the worst scenario method and its application to uncertain differential equations

Abstract of the Ph.D. Thesis January 2010 Supervised by Doc. RNDr. Jan Chleboun, CSc.

Mathematical Analysis

Slezská univerzita v Opavě Matematický ústav v Opavě

Petr Harasim

Metoda nejhoršího scénáře a její aplikace na nejisté diferenciální rovnice

Autoreferát disertační práce Leden 2010 Školitel Doc. RNDr. Jan Chleboun, CSc.

Matematická analýza

Výsledky disertační práce vznikly v průběhu doktorského studia oboru Matematická analýza na Matematickém ústavu Slezské univerzity v Opavě během let 2003-2010 a v průběhu zaměstnání na Ústavu geoniky AV ČR během let 2008-2010. Výzkum byl podporován granty MSM4781305904 a AV0Z30860518.

Disertant:	Ing. Bc. Petr Harasim Matematický ústav SU, Opava Ústav geoniky AV ČR, Ostrava
Školitel:	Doc. RNDr. Jan Chleboun, CSc. Fakulta stavební ČVUT v Praze
Konzultantka:	Doc. RNDr. Kristína Smítalová, CSc. Matematický ústav SU, Opava
Školící pracoviště:	Matematický ústav SU, Opava
Oponenti:	Prof. RNDr. Miroslav Bartušek, DrSc. Přírodovědecká fakulta MU v Brně
	Ing. Ivan Hlaváček, DrSc. Matematický ústav AV ČR, Praha

Státní doktorská zkouška a obhajoba disertační práce se konají 31. března 2010 v 11.30, před oborovou komisí doktorského studia oboru matematická analýza v zasedací místnosti rektorátu Slezské univerzity v Opavě, Na Rybníčku 1, Opava.

S disertací je možno se seznámit v Knihovně Matematického ústavu Slezské univerzity v Opavě, Na Rybníčku 1, Opava.

Předseda oborové rady: Prof. RNDr. Miroslav Engliš, DrSc. Matematický ústav v Opavě Slezská univerzita v Opavě Na Rybníčku 1 746 01, Opava

Contents

1 Abstract	1
2 Introduction	1
3 Main results	4
3.1 General theoretical framework of the worst scenario method	4
3.2 Application to quasilinear elliptic differential equations with uncertain coefficients	9
4 Numerical examples	15
5 Publications	21
6 Presentations	21
7 Long-term visits	22
References	22

1 Abstract

The submitted Thesis is devoted to the worst scenario method and its application to particular problems with uncertain nonlinear differential equations. At first, a theoretical framework for solving a class of worst scenario problems is proposed. The existence of the worst scenario is proved through the convergence of a sequence of approximate worst scenarios. This theoretical framework is applied to problems with quasilinear elliptic equations with uncertain coefficients (the problem for an ordinary and a partial differential equation is solved). Furthermore, it is shown that the Galerkin approximation of the state solution can be calculated by means of the Kachanov method as the limit of a sequence of solutions to linearized problems. On the top of it, some illustrative numerical examples concerning a one-dimensional problem are presented.

2 Introduction

A great many problems in natural, technical, and social sciences can be solved by means of suitable mathematical models. By using such models, we are able to predict results of processes in real world. Nevertheless, modeling of the real world is encumbered with various sorts of uncertainty. Since the input data of mathematical models is uncertain, the output values are also encumbered by uncertainty. It is our goal to evaluate the uncertainty of output data if the uncertainty of input data is somehow specified.

In this work, we are concerned especially with models described by differential equations with boundary conditions. For instance, let us consider the following boundary value problem: Find an unknown function u such that

$$-(a(u)u')' = f \quad \text{in } (0,1), \tag{2.1}$$

$$u(0) = u_1, \quad u(1) = u_2.$$
 (2.2)

This example represents the mathematical model of one-dimensional steady heat conduction. The right-hand side function f characterizes internal heat sources, the coefficient a is the heat conductivity and depends on the temperature u, the values u_1 and u_2 are given boundary temperatures.

In this steady heat conduction model, we can be interested, for instance, in the temperature at a selected point of the heated body. The problem (2.1)–(2.2), and consequently the temperature at any point, depend on the coefficient a. However, coefficients are obtained through experimental measurements and are not known exactly. It is not uncommon that a set of inputs is given. Consequently, the a-dependent temperature must be considered uncertain. For a more detailed mathematical treatment of this problem, see [1].

It is possible to consider the situation above more generally. The problem (2.1)–(2.2) is a concrete example of so called state problem, the function u is called a state solution. So, consider a state problem (represented by a boundary value problem, for instance) whose input data is uncertain. This uncertainty is represented by \mathcal{U}_{ad} , a given set of admissible input data. Since the state solution u depends on the input parameter $a \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$, we obtain a set of state solutions. As a rule, we are concentred with a real-valued quantity of interest related to the state solution and represented by a criterion functional $\Phi = \Phi(a, u(a))$, generally directly dependent on a. Due to the uncertainty of the state solution, we obtain a set of values of the criterion functional.

In practice, there exists a number of approaches to treatments of uncertainty in mathematical models. The choice of an acceptable approach depends largely on the amount of available information about the input data. If a probability characterization of input values is available, then stochastic methods can be applied at least in the form of the popular Monte Carlo method. If, however, the uncertainty in inputs cannot be described in terms of probability, other approaches, for instance fuzzy sets or the worst scenario method, can be applied. In some cases, it is suitable and efficient to combine various approaches to uncertainty. More detailed information can be found, e.g., in [13].

The stochastic methods as well as the fuzzy set approach assume certain additional information related to the input data of a mathematical model. Nevertheless, such information does not have to be always available, only the set of admissible input data can be known, and we wish to derive the corresponding set of outputs.

In engineering applications, mainly large values of the quantity of interest (e.g. temperature at a selected point of a heated body, or local stress at a point of a loaded body) are important. To illustrate this, we return to problem (2.1)–(2.2). It can be requested that, independently of $a \in U_{ad}$, the temperature at the selected point musn't exceed certain given value. Therefore, we search for an input parameter $a^0 \in U_{ad}$ such that the quantity of interest is maximal, i.e. we search for the worst (case) scenario responsible for the highest temperature at the observed point. Generally and more precisely, if we consider the criterion functional Φ mentioned above and if we set $\Psi(a) = \Phi(a, u(a))$, the goal is to find a parameter $a^0 \in U_{ad}$ such that the value $\Psi(a^0)$ is maximum. More detailed mathematical treatment of the worst scenario method is included in Section 3, see also [1], [2], [8], [9], [10], [11], [12], [13]. In practice, we are usually interested rather in the value $\Psi(a^0)$ than the worst scenario a^0 .

We observe that the worst scenario method provides rather pessimistic conclusions. The realization of the worst scenario might be rather rare. It is suitable to use the worst scenario method only in such situations where, except for \mathcal{U}_{ad} , no additional information is available. On the other hand, the worst scenario method appears, for instance, in the output uncertainty analysis of fuzzy set based models, see, e.g., [3] and [6].

3 Main results

The goal of this section is to explicate the theoretical framework of the worst scenario method and to sumarize new results that appeared on this subject in [8] and [9].

3.1 General theoretical framework of the worst scenario method

The general abstract scheme of the worst scenario method has been proposed by I. Hlaváček in [11, 13]. He considers an abstract state problem $\mathcal{P}(A, u)$, where A denotes input data and u represents a state variable. The state problem $\mathcal{P}(A, u)$ can stand for a differential equation, an integral equation, or a system of linear equations, for instance. In this work, we concentrate our attention to problems described by differential equations with uncertain coefficients. In the following part we introduce a general mathematical framework of the worst scenario method.

At first, we define the worst scenario problem. Let V be a real, separable, and reflexive Banach space and let V^* be its dual space. We assume that the state problem $\mathcal{P}(A, u)$ takes the form of an operator equation

$$\mathcal{A}u = b, \qquad u \in V, \tag{3.1}$$

where $\mathcal{A}: V \to V^*$, $b \in V^*$. The operator \mathcal{A} depends on an input parameter A that belongs to an admissible set $\mathcal{U}_{ad} \subset U$, where U is a Banach space. Consequently, the solution u of equation (3.1) depends on the parameter A, so that $u \equiv u(A)$. Furthermore, the state solution u(A) is evaluated by a criterion functional $\Phi: \mathcal{U}_{ad} \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ that can also directly evaluate the value of the input parameter A. The goal is to solve the following worst scenario problem: Find $A^0 \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$ such that

$$A^{0} = \arg \max_{A \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}} \Phi(A, u(A)).$$
(3.2)

The aim of the theoretical analysis is to prove the existence of the solution to problem (3.2) as well as to suggest a way to find, at least approximately, the worst scenario A^0 .

As shown in [13, Theorem 3.1], the problem (3.2) has a solution under the following assumptions:

- (a) the set \mathcal{U}_{ad} is compact in U;
- (b) a unique solution u(A) of the state problem (3.1) exists for any parameter A ∈ U_{ad};
- (c) if $A_n \to A$ in U, then $u(A_n) \to u(A)$ strongly or at least weakly in V;
- (d) if $A_n \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}, A_n \to A$ in U and $v_n \to v$ strongly or at least weakly in V, then

$$\lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \Phi(A_n, v_n) \le \Phi(A, v).$$

In a concrete practical problem, it can be difficult to show that this assumptions ensuring the solvability of the worst scenario problem (3.2) are fulfilled. In problems occurring in [8] and [9], see also Section 3.2, a difficulty arrises with the assumption (c) above (more detailed information can be found in [8]). For that reason, another approach is applied in [8] and the existence of the solution to problem (3.2) is proved via the convergence of the solutions to approximate worst scenario problems. The approximation is based on replacing the admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad} by its finite-dimensional approximation $\mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}^M \subset \mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}$, and the space V by its finite-dimensional subspace V_h . The symbols h and M stand for the relevant discretization parameters. If we replace the space V in (3.1) by its subspace V_h , we obtain Galerkin approximation $u_h(A) \in V_h$ of the state solution u(A). If we consider an approximation of (2.1)–(2.2), then the elements of \mathcal{U}_{ad} (some real, Lipschitz continuous functions) are substituted by the elements of $\mathcal{U}^M_{\mathrm{ad}}$ that can be continuous, piecewise linear functions, defined by values at nodal points $x_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$. For more detailed description of the sets \mathcal{U}_{ad} and \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M see the following section. The finite-dimensional space V_h usually is a finite element space. The approximate worst scenario problem, dependent on the choice of $\mathcal{U}^M_{\mathrm{ad}}$ and V_h , is defined in the following way: Find $A_h^{M0} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}^M$ such that

$$A_h^{M0} = \arg \max_{A^M \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M} \Phi(A^M, u_h(A^M)).$$
(3.3)

This approach also provides a way to calculate, at least approximately, the worst scenario A^0 .

To prove that the solution of problem (3.2) can be obtained as the limit of a sequence of solutions to the problems (3.3), we establish the following assumptions:

- (i) the sets \mathcal{U}_{ad} and \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M} are compact in U;
- (ii) for any parameter A ∈ U_{ad} there exists a unique state solution u(A) of equation (3.1), and furthermore, a unique Galerkin approximation u_h(A) ∈ V_h of the state solution u(A);
- (iii) the solution of the approximated state problem (that is, a finitedimensional parallel to (3.1)) depends continuously on the input parameter, i.e., if $A_n \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$ and $A_n \to A$ in U as $n \to \infty$, then $u_h(A_n) \to u_h(A)$ in V_h ;
- (iv) if $\{V_{h_n}\}$, where $h_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, is a sequence of finitedimensional subspaces of V, and if $A_n \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$, $A_n \to A$ in U as $n \to \infty$, then $u_{h_n}(A_n) \to u(A)$ in V;
- (v) it is possible to approximate any $A \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$ with an arbitrary accuracy by an element $A^M \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$ if M is a sufficiently large number, i.e. there exists a sequence $\{A^M\}, A^M \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$, such that $A^M \to A$ in U as $M \to \infty$;
- (vi) the criterion functional is continuous, i.e. if $A_n \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}, A_n \to A$ in U and $v_n \to v$ in V as $n \to \infty$, then

$$\Phi(A_n, v_n) \to \Phi(A, v).$$

We note that, except for (iv), these assumptions can also be found in [13, Chapter II].

It is not difficult to show that under assumptions (i) – (vi) the approximate worst scenario problem (3.3) has a solution. We can proceed as follows: For each $A \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$, we define

$$\Psi_h(A) := \Phi(A, u_h(A)).$$

Let $A_n \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$ and $A_n \to A$ in U as $n \to \infty$. It follows from (iii) that $u_h(A_n) \to u_h(A)$ in V_h . By virtue of assumption (vi) we get

$$\Phi(A_n, u_h(A_n)) \to \Phi(A, u_h(A)),$$

which means that

$$\Psi_h(A_n) \to \Psi(A).$$

Thus, the functional Ψ is continuous on \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M . Since, according to assumption (i), the set \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M is compact in U, the functional Ψ_h has a maximum in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M , i.e., an element $A_h^{M0} \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$ solves problem (3.3).

Now, we are prepared to present the main theoretical result concerning the existence of a solution to problem (3.2) and inspired by [13, Theorem 3.4]. If the assumptions (i) – (vi) are fulfilled, then, according to [8, Theorem 3.1], there exists a sequence $\{A_{h_k}^{M_k0}\}$ of solutions to the approximate worst scenario problems (3.3), $A_{h_k}^{M_k0} \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M_k}$, such that $h_k \to 0$ and $M_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, and

$$A_{h_k}^{M_k 0} \to A^0 \qquad \text{in } U, \tag{3.4}$$

$$u_{h_k}(A_{h_k}^{M_k 0}) \to u(A^0) \quad \text{in } V,$$
 (3.5)

$$\Phi(A_{h_k}^{M_k 0}, u_{h_k}(A_{h_k}^{M_k 0})) \to \Phi(A^0, u(A^0))$$
(3.6)

as $k \to \infty$, where $A^0 \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$ solves problem (3.2) and $u(A^0)$ is the corresponding solution to problem (3.1).

Remark We observe that it is possible to modify some of the asumptions (i) – (vi) above. To be specific, if we replace the strong convergence $u_{h_n}(A_n) \rightarrow u(A)$ in (iv) and $v_n \rightarrow v$ in (vi) by the weak convergence, then the conclusions (3.4) – (3.6) will be valid if we replace the strong convergence in (3.5) by the weak convergence. This

latter modification of [8, Theorem 3.1] is applied to problem with a partial differential equation examined in [9], see also the following section.

3.2 Application to quasilinear elliptic differential equations with uncertain coefficients

In this part, we apply the theoretical framework from Section 3.1 to problems with quasilinear elliptic differential equations with uncertain coefficients. We suppose that the coefficients depend on the squared gradient (derivative) of the state solution. Such equations can describe some electromagnetic phenomena, fluid flow phenomena, and the elastoplastic deformation of a body, see [15, page 212]. At first, we examine a problem with a partial differential equation, after that we will give a result related to a problem with an ordinary differential equation.

Consider the following state problem (the weak formulation of a boundary value problem, see [9]): Find $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that

$$\iint_{\Omega} A(|\nabla u|^2) \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y = \iint_{\Omega} f v \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \qquad \forall v \in H^1_0(\Omega),$$
(3.7)

where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a bounded open domain with a polygonal boundary, $H_0^1(\Omega)$ is the usual Sobolev space on Ω with vanishing traces on $\partial\Omega$, $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=1}^2$ is a diagonal matrix, a_{ii} , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, are Lipschitz continuous functions on \mathbb{R}_0^+ (nonnegative real numbers), and $f \in L^2(\Omega)$.

Now, we define the admissible set in more detail. To be able to ensure the validity of assumptions mentioned in Section 3.1, we have to select suitable admissible coefficients. We will consider positive, increasing, and bounded Lipschitz continuous functions defined on \mathbb{R}_0^+ . More precisely, the admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad} is defined in the following way: Let \mathcal{U}_{ad}^i , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, be a set of Lipschitz continuous functions a_{ii} defined on \mathbb{R}_0^+ and such that

$$0 < c_{\min,i} \le \frac{\mathrm{d}a_{ii}}{\mathrm{d}x} \le C_{\mathrm{L},i} \qquad \text{ a.e. in } [0, x_C], \qquad (3.8)$$

$$a_{ii}(x) = a_{ii}(x_{\rm C})$$
 for $x \ge x_{\rm C}$, (3.9)

$$0 < a_{\min,i} \le a_{ii}(x) \le a_{\max,i} \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^+_0, \tag{3.10}$$

where $C_{L,i}$, $c_{\min,i}$, $a_{\min,i}$, $a_{\max,i}$, x_C are positive constants. The admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad} is defined as the Cartesian product $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^1 \times \mathcal{U}_{ad}^2$. It is obvious that the elements of \mathcal{U}_{ad} can be represented by diagonal matrices of functions. We observe that \mathcal{U}_{ad} is a subset of the Cartesian product $U \times U$, where U is the Banach space of functions continuous on \mathbb{R}_0^+ and constant for $x \ge x_C$, for more details see [9].

The operator equation (3.1) arrises from (3.7) if we set $V := H_0^1(\Omega)$ and define $\mathcal{A}: V \to V^*$ and $b \in V^*$ by

$$\langle \mathcal{A}u, v \rangle := \iint_{\Omega} [a_{11}(|\nabla u|^2)u_x v_x + a_{22}(|\nabla u|^2)u_y v_y] \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \quad (3.11)$$

and

$$\langle b, v \rangle := \iint_{\Omega} f v \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y,$$

where $u, v \in V$ and where u_x, v_x, u_y, v_y denote the partial derivatives of u and v.

As mentioned earlier, the existence of the solution to problem (3.2) is proved via the convergence of the approximate worst scenarios. Therefore, we define the admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M and a finite-dimensional subspace V_h of V. Let $x_j, j \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$, be equally

spaced points in $[0, x_C]$, $x_1 = 0$ and $x_M = x_C$. For $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we define the set $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M,i} \subset \mathcal{U}_{ad}^i$ of functions $a \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^i$ such that $a|_{[x_j,x_{j+1}]} \in P_1([x_j, x_{j+1}])$, $j \in \{1, \ldots, M-1\}$, where $P_1([x_j, x_{j+1}])$ denotes the linear polynomials on the interval $[x_j, x_{j+1}]$. The admissible set \mathcal{U}^M is defined as the Cartesian product $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M,1} \times \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M,2}$. To define the space V_h , we introduce a triangulation $\mathcal{T}_h = \{T_1, \ldots, T_N\}$ of Ω . Let V_h be the space of functions $v_h \in V$, continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$ and such that $v_h|_{T_j}$ is a linear polynomial on the element T_j , $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. We assume that the diameter of any triangle T_j , $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, does not exceed h.

On the condition that the assumption (vi) from the previous section is fulfilled (the concrete criterion functional is appropriately selected), to be able to apply [8, Theorem 3.1], we have to verify assumptions (i) – (v), mentioned in Section 3.1.

By the Arzelà–Ascoli theorem, see [21, page 35], the sets \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{i} , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, are compact in U, and, consequently, the admissible sets \mathcal{U}_{ad} and \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M} are compact in $U \times U$. It means that the assumption (i) is fulfilled.

The existence of the solution of problem (3.7) is guaranteed by [22, Theorem 2.K.]. It is sufficient to verify that the operator \mathcal{A} defined by (3.11) is monotone, continuous, and coercive on V. The proof of the continuity and the coercivity of \mathcal{A} is not too difficult, see [9, Lemma 2.2 and Lemma 2.3]. The proof of the monotonicity of the operator \mathcal{A} is a more challenging problem, see [9, Lemma 2.1]. To ensure the monotonicity of \mathcal{A} , we add the requierement (see [9] for the details)

$$4x_{\rm C}C_{\rm L}^{\rm max} \le a_{\rm min} \tag{3.12}$$

to the admissible set $\mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}$, where $a_{\min} := \min_{1 \le i \le 2} \{a_{\min,i}\}$, $C_{\mathrm{L}}^{\max} :=$

 $\max_{1 \le i \le 2} \{C_{L,i}\}$. Therefore, if the condition (3.12) is fulfilled, the state problem (3.7) has a solution. In addition, according to [9, Lemma 2.4], the operator \mathcal{A} is strictly monotone and by virtue of [22, page 93, Corollary 1] the uniqueness of the solution to the problem (3.7) is guaranteed. The existence of the unique Galerkin approximation can be proved similarly, see [9, Theorem 2.2]. So that, the assumption (ii) is fulfilled.

The condition (3.12) ensuring the existence and uniqueness of the state solution and its Galerkin approximation is also used to verify the assumptions (iii) and (iv).

The assumption (iii) is fulfilled, see [9, Theorem 2.4].

To verify the assumption (iv), we have to introduce an appropriate sequence of finite-dimensional subspaces of V. To this end, let $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}$, $h \to 0$, be a regular family of triangulations of Ω , and $\{\mathcal{T}_{h_n}\} \subset \{\mathcal{T}_h\}$, $h_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, be a sequence of these triangulations. Let $\{V_{h_n}\}$ be the corresponding sequence of the finitedimenional spaces defined above. Then, according to [8, Lemma 4.4] and [9, Theorem 2.5], the assumption (iv) is fulfilled, if we replace the strong convergence $u_{h_n}(A_n) \to u(A)$ by the weak convergence.

By [9, Lemma 2.5], the assumption (v) is also fulfilled.

Thus, under the condition (3.12) and Remark (see Section 3.1), the worst scenario problem (3.2) with the operator state equation given by (3.7) has a solution $A^0 \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$. In addition, according to [8, Theorem 3.1], this solution is the limit of a sequence of solutions to approximate worst scenario problems (3.3). As will be shown in the folloving section, to solve the problem (3.3) with given \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M and V_h requires, among others, to find the Galerkin approximation $u_h(A^M) \in V_h$, where $A^M \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$, to the solution of the nonlinear problem (3.7). This Galerkin approximation can be determined by means of the Kachanov method as the limit of a sequence of the solutions to linearized problems, see [9, Theorem 2.3]. To this end, we define the following finite dimensional parallel to (3.7): Find $u_h \in V_h$ such that

$$\iint_{\Omega} A(|\nabla u_h|^2) \nabla u_h \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y = \iint_{\Omega} f v \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y \qquad \forall v \in V_h.$$
(3.13)

We show that under certain condition (see below) the Kachanov method applied to problem (3.13) converges for any $A \in U_{ad}$. The folloving part summarizes the results concerning the application of the Kachanov method to problem (3.13).

To be able to formulate a sufficient condition for the convergence of the Kachanov method, see (3.14) below, let us introduce some necessary constants.

It follows from the equivalence of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega)}$ and the semi-norm $|\cdot|_{H^1(\Omega)}$ in $H^1_0(\Omega)$ that

$$|v|_{H^1(\Omega)} \ge C_1 ||v||_{H^1(\Omega)} \qquad \forall v \in V,$$

where $C_1 > 0$.

In the following, we will use the equivalence of norms on the finite-dimensional space V_h . To this end, we fix a triangulation \mathcal{T}_h and the corresponding space V_h . Let $V_{h,c}$ be the space of functions on Ω that are constant on each triangle $T_j \in \mathcal{T}_h$, $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. It follows from the equivalence of norms on $V_{h,c}$ that

$$\|v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C_2 \|v\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \qquad \forall v \in V_{h,c},$$

where $C_2 > 0$.

It holds

$$||u_x - v_x||_{L^2(\Omega)} + ||u_y - v_y||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C_3 ||u - v||_V \qquad \forall u, v \in V_h,$$

where $C_3 > 0$.

Now, assume that

$$\frac{2C_2C_3C_L^{\max}||f||_{L^2(\Omega)}\sqrt{x_C}}{C_1^4 a_{\min}^2} < 1.$$
(3.14)

Then, according to [9, Theorem 2.3], the Galerkin approximation $u_h \equiv u_h(A) \in V_h$ of the solution to problem (3.7) can be calculated by means of the Kachanov method:

Let $u^0 \in V_h$ be arbitrary. If $u^k \in V_h$ is known, the following iteration $u^{k+1} \in V_h$ is determined so that

$$\iint_{\Omega} [a_{11}(|\nabla u^{k}|^{2})u_{x}^{k+1}v_{x} + a_{22}(|\nabla u^{k}|^{2})u_{y}^{k+1}v_{y}] \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y = \iint_{\Omega} fv\,\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y$$

for all $v \in V_h$. Then

$$||u_h - u^k||_V \to 0$$
 as $k \to \infty$.

In the end of this section, we turn our attention to the state problem examined in [8] and motivated by a boundary value problem with ordinary differentially equation: Find $u \in H_0^1(0, 1)$ such that

$$\int_0^1 a(u'^2)u'v' dx = \int_0^1 fv \, dx \qquad \forall v \in H_0^1(0,1), \qquad (3.15)$$

where the function $a \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}$ is an admissible coefficient.

The admissible set U_{ad} can be defined in the same way as U_{ad}^i except for (3.8) that can be weakened to

$$0 \le \frac{\mathrm{d}a}{\mathrm{d}x} \le C_{\mathrm{L}}$$
 a.e. in $[0, x_C]$,

where C_L is a positive constant. The set \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M is defined analogously as $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{M,i}$. For more detailed information see [8]. By introducing $x_0 = 0 < x_1 < \ldots < x_{N+1} = 1$, we define $V_h \subset H_0^1(0,1)$, the space of functions continuous on [a, b], linear on the interval $[x_j, x_{j+1}], j = 0, \ldots, N$, and with vanishing value at 0 and 1.

As well as in the two-dimensional case, the solution of the problem (3.2) can be obtained as the limit of a sequence of the solutions to approximate worst scenario problems (3.3). However, we obtained rather stronger results in one-dimensional case.

It is possible to verify the assumptions (i) – (vi) analogously. In this case, in contrast to the 2D-problem, a condition like (3.12) can be omitted. In addition, we are able to prove that the corresponding nonlinear operator defined by the left hand side of (3.15) is even strongly monotone, see [8, Lemma 4.2]. This implies that we can prove the strong convergence $u_{h_n}(A_n) \rightarrow u(A)$ in the assumption (iv), see [8, Theorem 4.4], and, consequently, select the criterion functional satisfying the assumption (vi) with the strong convergence $v_n \rightarrow v$. It makes possible to use a larger class of criterions. Furthermore, we obtain the strong convergence in (3.5).

4 Numerical examples

In this section, we will show a procedure to find, at least approximately, a solution of problem (3.3). For computational simplicity reasons, we confine ourselves to the one-dimensional problem examined in [8]. We will consider examples of equations with symmetric and non-symmetric right-hand side. The computations were performed in MATLAB.

Let $\mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}^M$ be the finite-dimensional admissible set and V_h the finite-

dimensional subspace of Sobolev space $H_0^1(0, 1)$ concerning the onedimensional problem defined at the end of Section 3.2. At first, we set $\Psi(a) = \Phi(a, u(a))$, so that we will examine *a*-dependent functional Ψ defined on \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M . Furthermore, the finite-dimensional admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M can be identified with a compact subset $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ of the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^M , if we define

$$\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathrm{ad}}^{M} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{M} : \exists a \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathrm{ad}}^{M} \quad \alpha = (\alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{M}) \\ = (a(x_{1}), \dots, a(x_{M})) \},$$

see also [1]. In this sense, the functional Ψ is, as a matter of fact, a real function $\widehat{\Psi} = \widehat{\Psi}(\alpha)$, where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_M) \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$. To obtain the value of function $\widehat{\Psi}$ at any point $\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$, it is necessary to solve the following nonlinear problem (a finite-dimensional analogy to (3.15)): Find $u_h \in V_h$ such that

$$\int_0^1 a(u_h'^2) u_h' v' \mathrm{d}x = \int_0^1 f v \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \forall v \in V_h, \tag{4.1}$$

where $a \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M$, $a(x_i) = \alpha_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, M$. The solution of the state problem (4.1) is obtained by using the Kachanov method (see previous section). Subsequently, the criterion functional Φ is applied. Summarily, we solve the following global optimization problem arising from (3.3): Find $\alpha^0 \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ such that

$$\alpha^0 = \arg \max_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathrm{ad}}^M} \widehat{\Psi}(\alpha).$$

To find the element α^0 at least approximately, we use the Nelder-Mead simplex method, see, e.g., [16]. This method is implemented by the standard MATLAB function *fminsearch*. By means of this algorithm, we can find a local extreme of a real function defined on the entire space \mathbb{R}^M . The Nelder-Mead algorithm starts from an arbitrarily selected initial (M + 1)-simplex. It is sufficient to enter an initial point, the *fminsearch* algorithm determines the remaining vertices of the initial simplex. The values at vertices are evaluated and, subsequently, the simplex is transformed. If this procedure is repeated, a non-increasing real sequence of function values is generated. This process continues until a termination criterion is met.

We have to solve a global optimization problem on the bounded set $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M \subset \mathbb{R}^M$. To solve this problem by the unconstrained optimization routine *fminsearch*, we establish a transformation T: $\mathbb{R}^M \to \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ and search for the maximum of the composite function $\widehat{\Psi} \circ T : \mathbb{R}^M \to \mathbb{R}$. We used the transformation T given in the following way:

- 1. Let the parameters of the admissible set $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^{M}$ be: M, a_{\min} , a_{\max} , C_L , x_C .
- 2. Let $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_M) \in \mathbb{R}^M$ be arbitrary. We obtain the corresponding value $T(x) = \alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_M) \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ as follows:

For the first component of α we define

$$\alpha_1 = a_{\min} + \frac{(a_{\max} - a_{\min})(\frac{\pi}{2} + \arctan x_1)}{\pi},$$

for α_i , $i = 2, \ldots, M$, we define

$$\alpha_i = \alpha_{i-1} + \frac{K(\frac{\pi}{2} + \arctan x_i)}{\pi},$$

where $K = \min\{\frac{C_L x_C}{M-1}, a_{\max} - \alpha_{i-1}\}.$

We observe that, to be allowed to use the *fminsearch* algorithm to solving of our maximization problem, we apply this algorithm to function $-\widehat{\Psi} \circ T$.

Now, we will present concrete numerical examples. We consider problem (3.15), respectively its finite-dimensional parallel (4.1). Let the parameters of admissible set \mathcal{U}_{ad} be: $a_{min} = 1$, $a_{max} = 6$, $C_L =$ 0.3, and $x_C = 10$. Let the dimension of \mathcal{U}_{ad}^M be M = 11 and the dimension of the finite element space V_h be N = 50. We will solve the state problem (4.1) with two different right-hand sides f_1 and f_2 . In the concrete, $f_1(x) = 300x(1-x)$, and

$$f_2(x) = \begin{cases} 100 \text{ for } 0 \le x \le \frac{2}{3} \\ -100 \text{ for } \frac{2}{3} < x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

The worst scenario problem (3.3) is solved with the following criterion functional:

$$\Phi(a, u(a)) = -10^6 \int_0^1 [u(a) - u_h(a^{M0})]^2 \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad (4.2)$$

where $u_h(a^{M0}) \in V_h$ is the state solution of problem (4.1) computed for the selected (and afterwards searched) parameter a^{M0} . This parameter is determined by the vector of nodal values $\alpha^0 = (3.00, 3.10, 3.30, 3.40, 3.45, 3.50, 3.70, 3.80, 3.95, 4.00, 4.20) \in \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$. It is not difficult to show that the functional Φ defined by (4.2) satisfies the assumption (vi) from Section 3.1.

Figures 4.1 – 4.4 present the obtained results. The approximation a_{appr}^{M0} of the searched parameter a^{M0} is calculated for the right-hand sides f_1 and f_2 with using two different initial points. Also, the parameter a_{in} corresponding to selected initial point $\alpha_{in} \in \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ and, for comparison, the parameter a^{M0} are presented. In addition, the value $\hat{\Psi}(\alpha_{in})$ of the function $\hat{\Psi}$ at the initial point, the final value $\hat{\Psi}(\alpha_{appr}^0)$ at the point $\alpha_{appr}^0 \in \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ corresponding to the parameter a_{appr}^{M0} , and the number of iterations k of the Nelder-Mead simplex method are presented.



Figure 4.1 The approximation $a_{\rm appr}^{M0}$ of the searched parameter a^{M0} for the righthand side f_1 and the given initial point $\alpha_{\rm in} \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\rm ad}^M$ corresponding to the parameter $a_{\rm in}$ $(\widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{\rm in}) = -1.2828.10^6, \ \widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{\rm appr}^{M0}) = -0.86.10^{-2}, \ k = 3000)$



Figure 4.2 The approximation a_{appr}^{M0} of the searched parameter a^{M0} for the righthand side f_1 and the given initial point $\alpha_{in} \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ corresponding to the parameter a_{in} $(\widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{in}) = -1.3589.10^5, \ \widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{appr}^{M0}) = -0.399.10^{-1}, \ k = 2500)$



Figure 4.3 The approximation $a_{\rm appr}^{M0}$ of the searched parameter a^{M0} for the righthand side f_2 and the given initial point $\alpha_{\rm in} \in \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\rm ad}^M$ corresponding to the parameter $a_{\rm in}$ $(\hat{\Psi}(\alpha_{\rm in}) = -9.1308.10^5, \ \hat{\Psi}(\alpha_{\rm appr}^{M0}) = -0.1144, \ k = 6700)$



Figure 4.4 The approximation a_{appr}^{M0} of the searched parameter a^{M0} for the righthand side f_2 and the given initial point $\alpha_{in} \in \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}^M$ corresponding to the parameter a_{in} $(\widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{in}) = -9.7035.10^4, \ \widehat{\Psi}(\alpha_{appr}^{M0}) = -0.126.10^{-1}, \ k = 4600)$

5 Publications

- 1. *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: A modified convergence theorem and its application to an uncertain differential equation. Preprint Series in Mathematical Analysis, Mathematical Institute in Opava, Silesian University in Opava, MA 61/2007.
- 2. *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: A modified convergence theorem and its application to an uncertain differential equation. Appl. Math. *53* (2008), 583- 598.
- 3. *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: A modified convergence theorem and its application to an uncertain differential equation. Proceedings of SNA'09, Institute of Geonics AS CR, Ostrava, February 2009, 34-38
- 4. *P. Harasim*: Worst scenario method and other approaches to uncertainty. Proceedings of Ph.D. Workshop 2009 (CD), Institute of Geonics AS CR, Ostrava, November 2009
- 5. *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: Application to a quasilinear elliptic 2D-problem with uncertain coefficients. Appl. Math. Accepted

6 Presentations

- Seminar on Numerical Analysis 2009 (SNA'09), Institute of Geonics AS CR, Ostrava, February 2009. Lecture: On the worst scenario method: A modified convergence theorem and its application to an uncertain differential equation.
- Modelling 2009, Institute of Geonics AS CR, VŠB-Technical University of Ostrava and International Association for Mathematics and Computers in Simulations (IMACS), Rožnov pod Radhoštěm, Czech Republic, June 2009. Lecture: On the worst scenario method: Application to an uncertain differential equation and numerical examples.

3. Ph.D. Workshop 2009, Institute of Geonics AS CR, Ostrava, November 2009. Lecture: Worst scenario method and other approaches to uncertainty.

7 Long-term visits

1. Universidad de Murcia, October-December 2005, Murcia, Spain. Socrates-Erasmus

References

- [1] J. Chleboun: Reliable solution for a 1D quasilinear elliptic equation with uncertain coefficients. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 234 (1999), 514-528.
- [2] J. Chleboun: On a reliable solution of a quasilinear elliptic equation with uncertain coefficients: Sensitivity analysis and numerical examples. Nonlinear Anal. 44 (2001), 375-388.
- [3] *J. Chleboun*: On fuzzy input data and the worst scenario method. Appl. Math. 48 (2003), 487-496.
- [4] *P. G. Ciarlet*: The Finite Element Method for Elliptic Problems. SIAM, Philadelphia, 2002.
- [5] D. Dubois, L. Foulloy, G. Mauris, and H. Prade: Probability-possibility Transformations, Triangular Fuzzy Sets, and Probabilistic Inequalities. Reliable Computing, Springer Netherlands 10 (2004), 273-297.
- [6] *I.Elishakoff*: Whys and Hows in Uncertainty Modelling (Probability, Fuzziness and Anti-Optimization). Springer-Verlag, Wien, New-York, 1999
- [7] J. Franců: Monotone operators (A survey directed to applications to differential equations). Appl. Math. 35 (1990), 257-301.
- [8] *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: A modified convergence theorem and its application to an uncertain differential equation. Appl. Math. *53* (2008), 583- 598.
- [9] *P. Harasim*: On the worst scenario method: Application to a quasilinear elliptic 2D-problem with uncertain coefficiens. Appl. Math. Accepted

- [10] I. Hlaváček: Reliable solution of a quasilinear nonpotential elliptic problem of a nonmonotone type with respect to uncertainty in coefficients. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 212 (1997), 452-466.
- [11] *I. Hlaváček*: Reliable solution of elliptic boundary value problems with respect to uncertain data. Nonlinear Anal. *30* (1997), 3879-3890.
- [12] I. Hlaváček: Uncertain input data problems and the worst scenario method. Appl. Math. 52 (2007), 187-196.
- [13] *I. Hlaváček, J. Chleboun, and I. Babuška*: Uncertain Input Data Problems and the Worst Scenario method. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2004.
- [14] I. Hlaváček, M. Křížek, and J. Malý: On Galerkin approximations of a quasilinear nonpotential elliptic problem of a nonmonotone type. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 184 (1994), 168-189.
- [15] M. Křížek, P. Neittaanmäki: Finite Element Approximation of Variational Problems and Applications. Longman Scientific & Technical, New York, 1990.
- [16] J. C. Lagarias, J. A. Reeds, M. H. Wright, and P. E. Wright: Convergence Properties of the Nelder-Mead Simplex Method in Low Dimension. SIAM, Journal of Optimization 9 (1998), 112-147.
- [17] S. Moral: Construction of a probability distribution from a fuzzy information. A. Jones, A. Kaufmann, H. J. Zimmermann (eds.), Fuzzy Set Theory and Applications, Reidel, Dordrecht 177 (1986), 51-60.
- [18] Z. Riečanová, J. Horváth, V. Olejček, B. Riečan, and P. Volauf: Numerické metódy a matematická štatistika. Alfa/SNTL, Bratislava, 1987.
- [19] *T. Roubíček*: Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations with Applications. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel-Boston-Berlin, 2005
- [20] B. Teplý, D. Novák: Spolehlivost konstrukcí. CERM, Brno, 2004
- [21] E. Zeidler: Applied Functional analysis (Applications to Mathematical Physics). Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995
- [22] E. Zeidler: Applied Functional analysis (Main Principles and Their Applications). Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995